IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: May 29 2025

04:56PM EDT

Transaction ID 76363167

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

v.

No. 24-129

BENJAMIN R. FREEMAN,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE OFFICE OF LAWYER DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Lauren Hall Knight [Bar No. 13405]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel lhall@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel West Virginia Judicial Tower
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE, Suite 1200
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

This is a lawyer disciplinary proceeding against Benjamin R. Freeman (hereinafter "Respondent") arising as the result of a Statement of Charges issued against him by the Investigative Panel of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board and filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia on March 7, 2024. A hearing was held on this matter on July 16, 2024. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") was comprised of Charles R. Steele, Esquire, Chairperson, Nicole A. Cofer, Esquire, and Margaret Chapman Pomponio, Layperson. Lauren Hall Knight, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the ODC, and Respondent appeared *pro se*. The HPS heard testimony from: Marcus L. Young, Emily C. Stern, Esquire, Marjorie L. Allison, and Respondent. Joint Exhibit 1 and ODC Exhibits 1-164 were admitted into evidence without objection.

On January 14, 2025, the HPS presented to the Court its Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "Report") in which it recommended that Respondent's license to practice law be suspended for 18 months, and that he be required to comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, promptly surrender all papers and property in his possession to which his clients are entitled, complete 12 hours of CLE devoted solely to office management/ethics prior to petitioning for reinstatement, and reimburse the Lawyer Disciplinary Board the costs of these proceedings. On February 5, 2025, the ODC filed its objection to the recommendation of the HPS. On February 10, 2025, the Supreme Court of Appeals entered an Order directing the parties to brief this matter and setting forth that this matter would be scheduled for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

B. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Respondent was admitted to the West Virginia State Bar on October 10, 2001, and he is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board. Respondent currently operates a solo law practice in Hurricane, which is located in Putnam County, West Virginia. Prior to opening his law practice in 2017, Respondent worked at the Office of the West Virginia Attorney General for two years and prior to that, Respondent worked at the Kanawha County Prosecuting Attorney's Office for nearly 14 years. [Hrg. Tr. 52-54]. Respondent's law practice consists primarily of abuse and neglect and criminal cases in Putnam and Kanawha County. [Hrg. Tr. 56, 58]. Respondent testified that he is responsible for everything at his office, including checking his post office box, calendaring filing deadlines, and answering phone calls. [Hrg. Tr. 58-59].

COUNT I I.D. No. 22-05-312 Complaint of Marcus L. Young

Respondent was appointed on June 7, 2022, to represent Complainant Marcus L. Young (hereinafter "Mr. Young") in post-conviction *habeas corpus* proceedings in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County and file an amended petition for *habeas corpus* relief on Mr. Young's behalf no later than 120 days following the entry of this order. [ODC Ex. 14, Bates 56-58]. Mr. Young filed an ethics complaint against Respondent on August 19, 2022, wherein he alleged that Respondent had failed to meet him or otherwise communicate with him since his appointment. [ODC Ex. 1]. By letter dated August 30, 2022, the ODC sent Respondent a copy of the complaint and directed him to file a verified response within 20 days. [ODC Ex. 2]. By letter received by the ODC on November 7, 2022, Respondent provided a response to the complaint wherein he attributed his

delay in communicating with Mr. Young, in part, to his demanding schedule and stated that he has been working on Mr. Young's amended petition, as well as obtaining necessary documents and transcripts. [ODC Ex. 4]. By letter dated March 21, 2023, the ODC requested that Respondent provide additional information within 20 days, including a copy of all correspondence he sent to Mr. Young as well as whether he had met with Mr. Young or otherwise communicated with him and if he had filed any motions to extend the filing deadline set forth by the Court. [ODC Ex. 15]. Respondent failed to respond to these inquiries, and he was served with an investigative subpoena duces tecum which directed him to appear at the ODC on August 30, 2023, to provide a sworn statement regarding this matter. [ODC Ex. 23]. At his sworn statement, Respondent acknowledged that he had not met with Mr. Young in person, and that he received a couple letters from Mr. Young to which he did not respond. [ODC Ex. 161, Bates 2854-56].¹

The records from the West-Virginia Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation (hereinafter "WVDOCR") admitted into the record show that between June 7, 2022, and October 24, 2023, Mr. Young attempted to call Respondent 31 times, and that none of these calls were accepted by Respondent. [ODC Ex. 30, Bates 111-15].² The court records admitted into the record show that the Court wrote a letter to Respondent on August 17, 2023, requesting that he advise the Court

¹ The Itemized Statement of Legal Services submitted by Respondent to Public Defender Services (hereinafter "PDS") on October 5, 2023, set forth that Respondent did 14.4 hours of work in Mr. Young's case, including: (1) an initial review of Mr. Young's case on June 17, 2022; (2) a meeting with the Court's law clerk to obtain documents on July 15, 2022; (3) additional investigation, research, and document review on July 2, 2023, July 3, 2023, and August 25, 2023; (4) drafting the amended petition on August 26, 2023, and September 8, 2023; (5) a one hour meeting with Mr. Young on September 16, 2023, and an approximately 30 minute meeting with Mr. Young on September 30, 2023; and (6) drafting the amended petition and appendix and preparing for filing on October 1, 2023, and October 5, 2023. [ODC Ex. 37].

² Although Respondent testified that he spoke to Mr. Young on the phone at some point, after reviewing the call detail report from the WVDOCR which indicated that he did not accept any phone calls from Mr. Young between June 15, 2022, and October 25, 2023, Respondent acknowledged that he may not have spoken to Mr. Young "during this period." [Hrg. Tr. 73-74].

within 14 days if he cannot represent Mr. Young and file a motion to withdraw as counsel. [ODC Ex. 25, Bates 97]. Respondent did not file a written response to this letter, nor did he file any motions to extend the filing deadlines set forth in the Order Appointing Counsel and Setting Briefing Schedule entered by the Court on June 7, 2022. Respondent ultimately filed an amended petition for *habeas corpus* relief on February 29, 2024. [ODC Ex. 40]. Mr. Young wrote a letter to the Court on April 17, 2024, wherein he stated that Respondent had not communicated with him and filed an amended petition that did not include all the claims that he wished to present to the Court. [ODC Ex. 164, Bates 2928]. Thereafter, the Court entered an Order on June 10, 2024, relieving Respondent as counsel and appointing new counsel to file a second amended petition on Mr. Young's behalf. [ODC Ex. 164, Bates 2930-32].

At the disciplinary hearing, Mr. Young testified that Respondent failed to answer any of his phone-calls or respond to any of his letters throughout the duration of his case. [Hrg. Tr. 11, 22]. Mr. Young confirmed that Respondent met with him at MOCC on September 16, 2023, and September 30, 2023, testifying that this was the first contact that Respondent had with him. [Hrg. Tr. 12-13, 23]. Mr. Young testified that his meeting with Respondent on September 16, 2023, was brief, approximately ten to fifteen minutes. [Hrg. Tr. 12]. Mr. Young testified that on September 30, 2023, Respondent brought a draft amended petition for him to review, and that he did not meet with him again following this meeting. [Hrg. Tr. 13]. Mr. Young testified that he sent a letter to Respondent on January 3, 2024, wherein he informed him that he did not want him to file the amended petition in his case as he did not have his trial transcript, and that Respondent did not respond to this letter. [Hrg. Tr. 14-15]. Mr. Young testified that he felt let down by how Respondent handled his case, and when asked if his experience with Respondent negatively impacted his opinion of lawyers and the legal system, he answered that it made him believe that lawyers do not

care about the interests of their clients. [Hrg. Tr. 17]. Respondent acknowledged that until their initial meeting on September 16, 2023, he had not consulted with Mr. Young regarding the substantive issues in his case or informed him that he was not going to adhere to the filing deadlines set forth by the Court. [Hrg. Tr. 78].

The HPS properly found that Respondent violated the following Rules of Professional Conduct: (1) Rule 1.3 by failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in his representation of Mr. Young; (2) Rules 1.4(a)(3) and 1.4(a)(4) by failing to keep Mr. Young informed as to the status of his case and failing to respond to Mr. Young's attempts to communicate with him; (3) Rules 3.4(c) and 8.4(d) by failing to comply with his obligations pursuant to the Order Appointing Counsel and Setting Briefing Schedule entered by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County on June 7, 2022; and (4) Rule 8.1(b) by failing to comply with the ODC's lawful request

COUNT II I.D. No. 22-01-355 Complaint of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel

This complaint was opened by the ODC on September 21, 2022, after receiving a referral from the Court regarding Respondent's failure to timely perfect appeals on behalf of his clients in two unrelated abuse and neglect appeals: *In re* K.H., No. 22-0408, and *In re* B.S., M.S., and H.S., No. 22-0413. [ODC Ex. 44]. Regarding *In re* K.H., Respondent, on behalf of his client, M.H., filed a notice of appeal on May 24, 2022. [ODC Ex. 70, Bates 885-900]. Respondent failed to comply with the deadlines to perfect the appeal set forth in the scheduling order and Notice of Intent to Sanction. [ODC Ex. 70, Bates 913]. Regarding *In re* B.S., M.S., and H.S., Respondent, on behalf of his client, M.S., filed a notice of appeal on May 25, 2022. [ODC Ex. 71, Bates 942-52]. Respondent failed to comply with the deadlines to perfect this appeal set forth in the scheduling

order and Notice of Intent to Sanction. [ODC Ex. 71, Bates 966]. The Court issued Rules to Show Cause in *In re* K.H., and *In re* B.S., M.S., and H.S., on September 15, 2022, directing Respondent to appear before the Court on November 1, 2022, to show cause as to why he should not be held in contempt for his failure to perfect these appeals. [ODC Ex. 70, Bates 913; ODC Ex. 71, Bates 966]. Respondent ultimately filed the briefs and appendices in these matters on October 7, 2022, and the Rules to Show Cause were dismissed as moot on October 20, 2022. [ODC Ex. 70, Bates 931; ODC Ex. 71, Bates 985].

Emily Stern, Staff Attorney at the Office of the Clerk, testified at the disciplinary hearing in this matter regarding her duties which include referring matters to the ODC at the direction of the Court. [Hrg. Tr. 26-27]. Ms. Stern testified as to Respondent's failure to comply with the deadlines set forth in the scheduling orders and notices of intent to sanction in *In re* K.H. and *In re* B.S., M.S., and H.S. [Hrg. Tr. 29-30, 32-33]. Ms. Stern further testified that to her knowledge. Respondent did not file any motions requesting the Court to extend the deadlines set forth in its orders prior to when he perfected these appeals on October 7, 2022. [Hrg. Tr. 31, 34]. Ms. Stern testified that dismissal is a potential outcome when a party fails to properly perfect an appeal. [Hrg. Tr. 49]. Ms. Stern further testified that Respondent's failure to adhere to the scheduling deadlines in these cases necessitated extra work in that additional orders had to be prepared, and these matters had to be presented to the Court. [Hrg. Tr. 48]. Ms. Stern also testified that delays in abuse and neglect cases can delay permanency for the children involved. [Hrg. Tr. 48].

At the disciplinary hearing, Respondent acknowledged that he did not disagree with Ms. Stern's testimony and testified that he did not dispute that he received the orders she discussed in her testimony. [Hrg. Tr. 148, 158-59]. Respondent testified that he represented M.H. and M.S. in the underlying abuse and neglect proceedings, and that both clients directed him to appeal the final

order of the circuit court terminating their parental rights. [Hrg. Tr. 154]. Respondent testified regarding the difficulties he encountered in handling the abuse and neglect appeals discussed herein, including difficulties communicating with his clients and obtaining necessary reports and orders. [Hrg. Tr. 153-54]. Respondent testified that he did not advise the Court of these difficulties because he was busy with other cases and got behind. [Hrg. Tr. 155-57].

The HPS properly found that Respondent violated the following Rules of Professional Conduct: (1) Rule 1.3 by failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in timely perfecting an appeal on behalf of his client; (2) Rule 3.2 by failing to make reasonable efforts to expedite the appeal consistent with his client's interests; (3) Rule 3.4(c) by failing to comply with his obligations pursuant to orders, notices, and rules issued by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virgina; (4) Rule 8.4(d) by failing to properly expedite his client's appeal and failing to comply with the orders of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

COUNT III I.D. No. 23-01-091 Complaint of Marjorie L. Allison

Complainant Marjorie L. Allison (hereinafter "Ms. Allison") filed the above-referenced complaint against Respondent on March 13, 2023, in which she alleged that she hired Respondent on or about August 19, 2021, to petition the family court to obtain visitation of her great niece. [ODC Ex. 72, Bates 996]. That same day, Ms. Allison paid Respondent a retainer of \$2,200.00, by personal check, for his representation in this matter. [ODC Ex. 72, Bates 998]. Ms. Allison alleged that she provided Respondent with the opposing party's address, however, after several months, Respondent was unable to locate the opposing party to effectuate service, and after several more months passed and nothing happened in her case, she requested that Respondent refund her money. [ODC Ex. 72, Bates 997]. Ms. Allison stated that Respondent agreed to refund her money

but failed to do so. [ODC Ex. 72, Bates 997]. Respondent failed to file a response to this complaint, and he was personally served with an investigative subpoena *duces tecum* which directed him to appear at the ODC on August 30, 2023, to provide a sworn statement regarding this matter. [ODC Ex. 82].

At his sworn statement, Respondent stated that he encountered issues finding the opposing party in order to effectuate service, so there was "no point" in filing the petition. Respondent stated that after going "back and forth" with Ms. Allison he agreed to send her a refund check, even though he performed work in her case because he did not want a bad client review. Respondent stated that he thought he had previously sent Ms. Allison a full refund, but he found no record of the check being cashed, so he planned to send her another check. [ODC Ex. 161, Bates 2869-70]. Respondent stated that he maintains a client trust account and office operating account at City National Bank. ODC Ex. 161, Bates 2846-47. When asked if the \$2,200.00 check from Ms Allison was deposited into his client trust account, Respondent stated that it was and that when he felt that he had done roughly ten hours of work, he transferred the funds to his general account. [ODC Ex. 161, Bates 2871]. Following his sworn statement Respondent submitted an unsigned fee agreement and time sheet for his representation of Ms. Allison. The unsigned fee agreement set forth that Respondent was hired to "institute and pursue a matter in family court regarding visitation," and that Ms. Allison would pay a \$2,200.00 retainer which would be billed against at a rate of \$250.00 per hour. [ODC Ex. 86, Bates 1052-53].3 The time sheet reflected that Respondent performed 8.7 billable hours of work in Ms. Allison's case. [ODC Ex. 86].4

³ Respondent agreed that the \$2,200.00 paid by Ms. Allison was a legal fee paid in advance to be billed against at a rate of \$200.00 per hour. [Hrg. Tr. 103, 105].

⁴ Respondent noted on the time sheet that he did not charge Ms. Allison for a one-hour initial consultation. According to the time sheet, Respondent earned \$1,740.00 of the \$2,200.00 paid by Ms. Allison by the time

The bank records admitted into the record show that, contrary to the testimony he provided in his sworn statement, Respondent did not deposit the \$2,200.00 check from Ms. Allison into his client trust account. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1175]. These records revealed that Respondent deposited Ms. Allison's retainer into his operating account, an account which contained Respondent's personal funds and was used for Respondent's personal use. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1168]. Prior to depositing Ms. Allison's \$2,200.00 check, the balance of Respondent's operating account on August 23, 2021, was -\$632.65, and the deposit of Ms. Allison's \$2,200.00 check brought the balance of this account to \$1,567.35. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1241]. That same day, Respondent received a wire transfer credit from Creed Capital, LLC, in the amount of \$493.73 for payment of a PDS billing invoice which brought the balance of this account to \$2,061.08. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1241; Hrg. Tr. 125].5 That same day, Respondent also withdrew \$200.00 cash from this account, wrote a \$1,350.00 check to City National Bank, and had four charges from PayPal for retried payments which totaled \$192.24. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1157, 1241]. According to the time sheet provided by Respondent, the only work he performed in Ms. Allison's case prior to depositing her \$2,200.00 check into his operating account was a one-hour meeting on August 19, 2021, and a review of her case on August 20, 2021, for eight tenths of an hour. [ODC Ex. 86, Bates 1054].

At the disciplinary hearing, Respondent agreed that the \$2,200.00 paid by Ms. Allison was a legal fee paid in advance to be billed against at a rate of \$200.00 per hour. [Hrg. Tr. 103, 105]. Respondent testified that he "almost never" used his IOLTA account. [Hrg. Tr. 111]. Respondent

he was discharged. [ODC Ex. 86, Bates 1054-56].

⁵ This account was frequently overdrawn. In 2021, Respondent was assessed \$6,156.00 in return items fees and \$1,404.00 in overdraft item fees. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1290]. In 2022, Respondent was assessed \$3,924.00 in return item fees and \$792.00 in overdraft item fees. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1426]. In 2023, Respondent was assessed \$2,736.00 in return item fees and \$9,648.00 in overdraft item fees. [ODC Ex. 96, Bates 1595].

testified that he did not know his IOLTA account was closed until he received the Statement of Charges, and that this account was closed due to having a negative balance after being assessed direct deposit fees. [Hrg. Tr. 106-08]. Respondent acknowledged that although he did not remember at the time, he deposited the \$2,200.00 check from Ms. Allison into his business account instead of his IOLTA account. [Hrg. Tr. 114, 120]. Respondent acknowledged that his testimony at his sworn statement regarding his handling of this fee was not accurate. [Hrg. Tr. 116-17]. Respondent explained that it had been a couple of years since he worked on Ms. Allison's case, and he had not reviewed bank records at that time. [Hrg. Tr. 117, 120]. Respondent confirmed that the above-referenced PayPal charges were for personal spending. [Hrg. Tr. 127]. Respondent testified that the above-referenced \$1,350.00 check to City National Bank was a personal loan payment. [Hrg. Tr. 128].

Respondent testified that Ms. Allison provided him with an address to serve the opposing party, and that he did not recall the exact issue with this address which caused him not to file the petition in her case. [Hrg. Tr. 135-36]. Regarding his email to Ms. Allison in which he advised her that he was going to have to refile her petition because it was never served, and that he would contact the sheriff to straighten out any problems, Respondent testified that this email was a mistake, and he did not know why he would have provided this incorrect information to Ms. Allison. [ODC Ex. 94, Bates 1142; Hrg. Tr. 137-39]. Respondent presented Ms. Allison with a refund check in the amount of \$2,200.00 at the disciplinary hearing and apologized to her for any misunderstandings regarding the filing and service of her petition. [Hrg. Tr. 216].

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