BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

SCA EFiled: Jul 17 2025

04:24PM EDT

DOCKET NO. 24-1/20/saction ID 76670459

IN RE: Benjamin Freeman, a licensed Member of the WV State Bar

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Benjamin Freeman (WVSB #8875) Freeman Law Offices 604 Hawthorne Ln Hurricane, WV 25526 (304) 989-1775 bfreeman@freemanlawwv.com

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Office of Disciplinary Counsel and Hearing Pannel erred in recommending that Respondent be suspended or annulled for his conduct and actions.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The West Virginia Office of Disciplinary Counsel ("ODC") and Hearing Pannel has recommended that Respondent be suspended or annulled for his actions and conduct.

The Respondent does not substantially dispute their factual recitation of the bare facts of the case; however, the Respondent has filed documents disputing said sanctions and files this document with the explanations and reasons listed in the body of this filing.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hearing Pannel erred in its recommendation that the Respondent should be suspended for 18 months and the ODC's recommendations are in error and too harsh given said conduct.

The Respondent has corrected his errant actions and conduct and has addressed the issues which led to the filing of this action.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner believes oral argument is necessary under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, unless the Court determines that issues can be addressed in a different manner. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In lawyer disciplinary matters, a *de novo* standard of review applies to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanction to be imposed. *Roark v. Lawyer Disciplinary Board*, 207 W. Va. 181,495 S.E.2d 552 (1997); Committee on Legal *Ethics v. McCorkle*, 192 W. Va. 286,452 S.E.2d 377 (1994). The Supreme Court of Appeals gives respectful consideration to the Lawyer Disciplinary Board's recommendations as to questions of

law and the appropriate sanction, while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. McCorkle, 192 W. Va. at 290,452 S.E.2d at 381.

VII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE ODC'S AND THE HEARING PANNELS RECOMMENDATIONS THAT THE RESPONDENT BE SUSPENDED OR ANNULLED IS A SCANCTION NOT WARRANTED IN THIS MATTER

- I acknowledge that I did fail to timely file four appellate matters as specified. An
 unusually heavy caseload combined with a lack of staff and strained time demands and
 resources due to limitations from the Covid shutdown period contributed to these delays.
- Slowly coming out of this, my schedule has eased, and I am better able to manage my caseload.
- 3. Along with the above, time demand difficulties, disagreements with clients, and difficulties obtaining documents, files, transcripts, etc. contributed to delays with habeas corpus petitions. I do not currently accept any habeas corpus cases.
- 4. The complaint regarding Ms. Allison's case was such a rare anomaly in my practice that no other such situation has occurred since I opened my practice, or before that.
- 5. Despite such delays and disagreements, I believe that all parties have had their cases filed and heard and/or adjudicated, proceeded on with new counsel to address matters of legal disagreement, and/or been made whole.
- 6. The explosion in the numbers of abuse and neglect, and other court-appointed matters, overwhelmed my practice. I saw case-load numbers not before seen. Additionally, there appear to be fewer numbers of attorneys willing to accept these cases.
- 7. Fortunately, my schedule has lightened the past two years, and I have gotten back on track and have kept up with clients, cases, and appeals.

COUNT I

ID No. 22-05-312

Complaint of Marcus Young

- 1. I attempted to contact Mr. Young by mail. I am unaware whether he actually received said letters.
- 2. Again, I was not at my office very often due to my demanding court schedule and if he attempted to contact me by phone, I would not have been available on numerous occasions. Also, his calls may or may not have been diverted by a spam-call blocker (since removed); I am still without an assistant.
- 3. I continued to work on Mr. Young's habeas corpus petition; gathering documents took an extensive amount of time, including locating certain transcripts; the Circuit Court has been flexible and understanding regarding this issue.
- 4. Mr. Young's incarceration status was not likely to have been affected by said delays.
- 5. My schedule was very demanding lately, and I had multiple appeals and multiple habeas corpus petitions that I had been working on completing.
- 6. Mr. Young's habeas petition was delayed further by issues related to the Losh list required to be filed in habeas cases.
- 7. I visited Mr. Young at MOCC on several occasions.
- 8. Although Mr. Young was not satisfied with his petition, I believed his wishes would have resulted in filing an improper and insufficient petition that would not conform with the law.
- 9. Despite such disagreement, the Court directed me to file Mr. Young amended habeas corpus petition as it was, insufficient or not.
- 10. Having filed said petition, the Court held a hearing in the matter.

11. Acknowledging the disagreement, the Court consulted counsel and appointed Mr. Young substitute counsel to give him a fresh start with a new attorney.

COUNT II

ID No. 22-01-355

Complaint of ODC Regarding Appeal 22-0408

- 1. I reiterate that my schedule was extremely demanding with an increase in appointed abuse and neglect cases, criminal cases, and appeals during the past 3-4 years.
- 2. Compiling documents, including orders, transcripts, etc., was very time consuming and resulted in delays in completing petitions.
- 3. Clients often are difficult to communicate with regarding the appeal finding.
- 4. I experienced an unusual number of cases to appeal in the 2022 and 2023.
- 5. The number of appeals has dropped since this time.
- 6. In September 2024, I filed a timely appeal in case 24-456
- 7. My total number of cases has drastically decreased in late 2024.
- 8. This appeal was considered by the Court, and it affirmed the Circuit Court's decision.

COUNT III

ID No. 24-01-091

Complaint of Marjorie Allison

- 1. I completed a petition related to her case.
- 2. I could not find a proper service address to serve the proposed respondent in the matter.
- 3. I related these issues to Ms. Allison, and we communicated several times about it.
- 4. After some time, the attorney-client relationship broke down.
- 5. Although I had completed a substantial amount of work in her case, I agreed to refund her

- fees paid to me in the matter as a matter of business good will.
- 6. I attempted to re-pay her on a prior occasion(s), but she did not cash a check from me.
- 7. I typically charge far less than other attorneys in the area for private criminal and family law matters, so I considered her initial payment to be a maximum fee. I rarely to never charge my private pay clients more than an initial payment.
- 8. For most clients I charge them after I have done most or all of the legal work on their cases.
- 9. I do not engage in cases in which I "hold" money for clients.
- 10. As such, I was unaware that my IOLTA account had been closed because there was no money in the account or recent activity, and I had not had clients for whom I had unpaid/unused retainers in 2+ years.
- 11. I fully intended to refund Ms. Allison her payment to me without taking any money for work already completed.
- 12. Never before has a client made such a complaint against me in 20+ years of practicing law.
- 13. Regarding depositing her initial check, I was mistaken about the sequence of events given my memory of events 2 years prior. At no time did I ever intend to misrepresent this to the ODC.
- 14. At no time did I ever intend to misrepresent myself to Ms. Allison or cheat her in any way.
- 15. I rarely take a retainer in any case and have adjusted my procedures to bill clients after the work is completed and/or on a flat-fee basis.
- 16. Currently, I hold no retainers to my best investigation.
- 17. Ms. Allison has been refunded her total payment to me, despite the amount of work actually performed on her case.
- 18. Ultimately, I believed things to have ended amicably between Ms. Allison and myself at

this point.

COUNT IV

ID No. 23-06-199

Complaint of ODC Regarding Appeal 23-140

- 1. I reiterate that my schedule was extremely demanding with an increase in appointed abuse and neglect cases, criminal cases, and appeals during the past 3-4 years.
- 2. Compiling documents, including orders, transcripts, etc., was very time consuming and resulted in delays in completing petitions.
- 3. Clients often are difficult to communicate with regarding the appeal finding.
- 4. I experienced an unusual number of cases to appeal in the 2022 and 2023.
- 5. The number of appeals has dropped since this time.
- 6. In September 2024, I filed a timely appeal in case 24-456
- 7. My total number of cases has drastically decreased in late 2024.
- 8. This appeal was considered by the Court, and it affirmed the Circuit Court's decision.

COUNT V

ID No. 23-06-308

Complaint of Garland Murray

- 1. I spoke to Mr. Murray several times on the phone.
- 2. I relayed several messages to/from Mr. Murray, regarding non-attorney/client matters, through his partner, as authorized by Mr. Murray.
- 3. He relayed several messages through his spouse to which I responded.
- 4. I have filed Motions to extend deadlines to file an amended petition.
- 5. I had some delay with Mount Olive Correctional Center in scheduling an in-person meeting

- with Mr. Murray, but has several meetings with him at Mount Olive CC.
- 6. I worked numerous hours on Mr. Murray's amended petition, and we had several discussions regarding what's to be filed and what is not a proper subject(s) for a habeas corpus petition.
- 7. Mr. Murray and I continued to disagree about which matters are irrelevant to his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which caused additional delays in filing his Amended Petition.
- 8. Related to these disagreements, I had difficulty communicating the meaning and nature of the Losh List to be filed in habeas corpus cases, especially what exactly would still be relevant to his current petition given the fact that a prior petition for writ of habeas corpus had been denied.
- 9. I assisted Mr. Murray with related matters, including investigating the failure to perfect his prior appeal and prior filed habeas corpus petitions (I was not his counsel for these matters).
- 10. I filed additional motions on Mr. Murray's behalf regarding his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus communicating the difficulties which I encountered with the matter.
- 11. Mr. Murray's amended petition for writ of habeas corpus was ripe for filing and for having the Court consider the matter, with the limitations and difficulties described above.
- 12. Given such difficulties, substitution of counsel was best for Mr. Murray in this matter.

COUNT VI

ID No. 23-06-431

Complaint of ODC Regarding Appeal 23-516

- 1. I reiterate that my schedule was extremely demanding with an increase in appointed abuse and neglect cases, criminal cases, and appeals during the past 3-4 years.
- 2. Compiling documents, including orders, transcripts, etc., was very time consuming and

- resulted in delays in completing petitions.
- 3. Clients often are difficult to communicate with regarding the appeal finding.
- 4. I experienced an unusual number of cases to appeal in the 2022 and 2023.
- 5. The number of appeals has dropped since this time.
- 6. In September 2024, I filed a timely appeal in case 24-456
- 7. My total number of cases has drastically decreased in late 2024.
- 8. Upon belief, all filings have been completed in this case and the matter decided by the Court upon the merits.

COUNT VII

ID No. 24-06-034

Complaint of ODC Regarding Appeal 23-400

- 1. I was appointed as substitute counsel for the appealing respondent parent in the above case after the proceedings in Circuit Court.
- 2. Initially, I was unaware that I had been appointed because I did not receive the Circuit Court's Order timely
- 3. Upon contacting prior counsel, I was informed that she did not have a file in the case to give me and that she did not have contact information for the client; I was only able to piece together the case through part of the Court record and speaking to other attorneys on the case. However, I still proceeded to attempt to obtain certain other transcripts and documents in this matter.
- 4. I worked to complete an appeal brief as best as I possibly could given the said difficulties but was never able to contact the client or complete a full and proper document.
- 5. There was a prior hearing before the Supreme Court at which I explained the situation.

- 6. I have found great difficulties being appointed to abuse and neglect cases after the Circuit Court case has ended and while its lingering between Courts. Documents and files are not as readily available from various sources as they need to be.
- 7. I moved to be relieved as counsel given the above-listed difficulties and the Court granted the said motion.
- 8. The appeal eventually was filed by other counsel, but the Circuit Court's decision was affirmed.

FURTHER DISCUSSION

- 1. The purpose of attorney disciplinary proceedings is not designed solely to punish the attorney, but to protect the public, to reassure the public as to the reliability and integrity of attorneys, and to safeguard the administration of justice. *Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Taylor*, 192 W.Va. 139, 451 S.E. 2d 440(1994).
- 2. A lawyer owes an ethical duty to clients including the duty of candor, loyalty, diligence, and competence. *Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Blyler*, 237 W.Va. 325, 787 S.E. 2d 596 (2016).
- 3. As defined by the *Annotated ABA Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions* (2015), "Injury" is harm to a client, the public, the legal system, or the profession which results from a lawyer's misconduct. Further, potential injury is harm to the same which, but for some intervening factor or event, would probably have resulted from the lawyer's misconduct.
- 4. Clear and convincing evidence may exist to show that the Respondent has violated the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct.
- 5. The Respondent has worked to remedy all violations of the West Virginia Rules of

Professional Conduct by completing all the filings in the above-listed appeals, securing from the Circuit Court substitute counsel for Mr. Garland and Mr. Murray, and by seeking an amicable resolution with Ms. Allison, including by refunding all funds paid regarding her matter.

- Respondent made reasonable and/or remedial attempts regarding his ethical duties to said
 clients, and Respondent ultimately worked to ensure that their cases were preserved or
 remedied, however untimely.
- 7. Any "injury" to these clients, as defined above was the result of Respondent's overloaded schedule, lack of staff, difficulties obtaining documents or other relevant case-related information, communication issues, and/or disagreements with clients regarding legal strategy or filings.
- 8. Any "potential injury" to these clients has been remedied and will not likely result in ultimate harm.
- 9. Any "injury" or "potential injury" to these clients was not the result of malice, willful misconduct, or other ill intent, but rather by mistake, unintentional neglect, or lack of time and manpower resources.
- 10. Mitigating factors exist in this matter that justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed, if any. See, *Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Scott*, 213 W.Va. 209, 579 S.E. 2d 550 (2003). Specifically:
 - a. Respondent has an absence of a prior disciplinary record.
 - b. Other sanctions have been imposed upon the Respondent, namely the Court limiting the number and type of cases that he may handle.
 - c. Respondent has expressed great remorse regarding these matters and has done what

he can within his ability to remedy each matter.

11. Given that the Respondent has practiced law in West Virginia since 2001, and has been in private practice since 2016, these matters appear to be a contained series of events which are not likely to be repeated.

SANCTIONS

- 1. Pursuant to 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, any further sanctions imposed upon the Respondent, if any, should reflect the conduct involved, steps to remedy said conduct and/or harm to clients, and other mitigating factors.
- **2.** Should any other such sanctioning be imposed, the Respondent should be placed on probation and/or be admonished or reprimanded by the Court.
- **3.** Any harsher sanctions, including suspension or annulment, are not warranted and should not be imposed upon the Respondent in this matter.
- **4.** There is no restitution owed in this case.

VIII. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

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